## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. SC03-824

# DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

APPEAL OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF

## **APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

J. Edwin Mills Florida Bar No. 0400599 Attorney for Appellant Post Office Box 3044 Orlando, Florida 32802-3044 (407) 246-7090

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS.

On June 11, 2002, Appellant filed his Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction And Sentences With Special Request For Leave To Amend, arguing that Appellant is retarded and the death sentence imposed violates the Eight and Fourteenth Amendments, United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution, violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution. (R. PC. 49-75) Prior to the trial court ruling on the pending Motion, Appellant filed his second Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences With Special Request for Leave to Amend arguing that <u>Ring v. Arizona</u> 536 U.S. 584 (2002) requires a finding that the Florida death penalty statute is unconstitutional because it charges the judge, and not the jury, with the duty of making the findings necessary for imposition of a death sentence; that the Florida death penalty statute does not require the jury to make findings of fact; that the Florida death penalty statute does not require the jury to render a verdict on the elements of capital murder; that the Florida death penalty statute does not require the State to convince the jury that death was a proper sentence beyond a reasonable doubt; and that the Florida death penalty statute to be charged in the indictment. (R.PC. 95-118) Appellant's second motion also argued that Ring and Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002) require the State to prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant was not mentally retarded.

On August 29, 2002, the trial court, without conducting an evidentiary hearing, entered its non-final Order finding that based upon the law of the case, Appellant does not meet the threshold requirements of <u>Atkins.</u> (R.PC. 174-175) The trial court's Order also directed the Parties to file additional pleadings addressing the <u>Ring</u> issue.

On February 3, 20 03, the trial court entered it's Order finding that Appellant's second Motion was intended to supercede the original Motion filed June 11, 2003 and denied Appellant's claims under <u>Ring</u>, based upon this Court's ruling in <u>Bottoson v</u>. <u>State</u>, 833 So2d 693 (Fla. 2002). (R.PC. 292-295)

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's Second Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences With Special Request for Leave to Amend.

The statue under which Appellant was indicted was unconstitutional because it required the judge, without the aid of the jury, to make the findings necessary for imposition of a death sentence.

Florida's Capital Sentencing Scheme is Unconstitutional under <u>Ring</u> <u>v. Arizona</u>

> 1. The role of the jury In Florida's capital sentencing scheme neither satisfies the Sixth Amendment, nor renders harmless the failure to satisfy Apprendi and Ring

2. Florida juries do not make findings of fact.

3. Florida juries are not required to render a verdict on elements of capital murder.

4. The State was not required to convince the jury that death was a proper sentence beyond a reasonable doubt

5. The indictment was invalid because the elements of the offense necessary to establish capital murder were not charged in the indictment

 To avoid imposition of the death sentence, Appellant was required to prove the non-existence of an element necessary to make him eligible for the death penalty.

Appellant has made a prima facia showing of mental retardation and must be afforded an evidentiary hearing to determine if Appellant's mental retardation is sufficient to render execution unconstitutional

1. Atkins is retroactive

2. The rule in <u>Atkins</u> commands full constitutional protections, including the right to a jury trial on the issue of Appellant's mental retardation, the right to appointed, qualified counsel and assistance from independent competent experts and adequate time and resources to prepare and present evidence concerning Appellant's mental retardation.

3. Appellant's mental retardation has never been considered in any appellate proceeding, any postconviction proceeding nor any federal habeas corpus proceeding, therefore, Appellant is entitled to a full evidentiary hearing to determine whether Appellant's mental retardation is sufficient to prevent his execution.

## THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS' SECOND MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCES WITH SPECIAL REQUEST FOR LEAVE TO AMEND.

# A. THE STATUTE UNDER WHICH APPELLANT WAS INDICTED IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT REQUIRES THE JUDGE - WITHOUT THE AID OF THE JURY - TO MAKE THE FINDINGS NECESSARY FOR IMPOSITION OF A DEATH SENTENCE

# 1. <u>Florida's Capital Sentencing Scheme is Unconstitutional under Ring</u> <u>v. Arizona</u>

### a. The Holding of Ring

<u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), held unconstitutional a capital sentencing scheme that makes imposition of a death sentence contingent upon the finding of an aggravating circumstance and assigns responsibility for finding that circumstance to the judge. The Supreme Court based its holding and analysis in <u>Ring</u> on its earlier decision in <u>Apprendi v. New Jer</u>sey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), where it held that " ... [i]t is unconstitutional for a legislature to remove from the jury the assessment of facts that increase the prescribed range of penalties to which a criminal defendant is exposed." Id. at 490 (quoting Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227 (1999), at 252-253 (Stevens, J., concurring)). Capital sentencing schemes such as those in Florida and Arizona violate the notice and jury trial rights guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments because they do not allow the jury to reach a verdict with respect to an "aggravating fact [that] is an element of the aggravated crime" punishable by death. Ring, at 605 (quoting Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 501 (Thomas, J., concurring).

In applying the <u>Apprendi</u> test in <u>Ring</u>, the Court said "[t]he dispositive question . . . 'is not one of form but of effect." <u>Ring</u> at 602, quoting <u>Apprendi</u>, 530 U.S. at 494. The question is not whether death is an authorized punishment in first-degree murder cases, <sup>1</sup> but whether the "... facts increasing punishment beyond the maximum authorized by a guilty verdict standing alone..." <u>Ring</u> at 605, are found by the judge or jury. "If a State makes an increase in a defendant's authorized punishment contingent on the finding of a fact, that fact must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Ring</u>, at 602. "All the facts which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <u>Ring</u>, at 604 (rejecting argument that finding of aggravating circumstance did not increase statutory maximum because "Arizona first-degree murder statute 'authorizes a maximum penalty of death only in a formal sense") (quoting <u>Apprendi</u>, 530 U.S. at 541 (O'Connor, J., concurring)). Both the Florida and Arizona statutes provide for a range of punishments, the most severe of which is death. Compare Fla. Stat. § 775.082(1) (1979) with Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-1105(C).

must exist in order to subject the defendant to a legally prescribed punishment must be found by the jury." Ibid. (quoting <u>Apprendi</u>, 530 U.S. at 499 (Scalia, J., concurring)).

The Court in <u>Ring</u> held that Arizona's sentencing statute could not survive <u>Apprendi</u> because "...[a] defendant convicted of first-degree murder in Arizona cannot receive a death sentence unless a judge makes the factual determination that a statutory aggravating factor exists. Without that critical finding, the maximum sentence to which the defendant is exposed is life imprisonment, and not the death penalty." <u>Ring</u> at 595 (Quoting Justice O'Conner's <u>Apprendi</u> dissent) In so holding, the Court overruled <u>Walton v. Arizona</u>, 497 U.S. 639 (1990), "to the extent that it allows a sentencing judge sitting without a jury, to find an aggravating circumstance necessary for imposition of the death penalty." <u>Ring</u> at 609.

#### 2. <u>Application of Ring to Florida's Sentencing Scheme</u>

<u>Ring</u> overruled <u>Walton</u>, and the basic principle of <u>Hildwin v. Florida</u>, 490 U.S. 638 (1989) (per curiam), which had upheld the capital sentencing scheme in Florida "on grounds that 'the Sixth Amendment does not require that the specific findings authorizing imposition of the sentence of death be made by the jury." <u>Ring</u>, at 598 (quoting <u>Walton</u>, 497 U.S. at 648, in turn quoting <u>Hildwin</u>, 490 U.S. at 640-641)). Additionally, <u>Ring</u> undermines the reasoning of the Florida Supreme Court's decision in <u>Mills v. Moore</u>, 786 So2d 532 (Fla. 2001) by recognizing (a) that Apprendi applies to capital sentencing schemes,<sup>2</sup> <u>Ring</u>, at 589 ("Capital defendants, no less than non-capital defendants ... are entitled to a jury determination of any fact on which the legislature conditions an increase in their maximum punishment"); <u>Ring</u>, at 602; (b) that States may not avoid the Sixth Amendment requirements of <u>Apprendi</u> by simply "specif[ying] 'death or life imprisonment' as the only sentencing options," <sup>3</sup> <u>Ring</u>, at 604-605; and (c) that the relevant and dispositive question is whether under state law death is "authorized by a guilty verdict standing alone." <u>Ring</u>, at 604.

Florida's capital sentencing statute, like the Arizona statute struck down in <u>Ring</u> makes imposition of the death penalty contingent upon the factual findings of the judge — not the jury. Section 775.082 of the Florida Statutes provides that a person convicted of first-degree murder must be sentenced to life imprisonment "... unless the proceedings held to determine sentence according to the procedure set forth in § 921.141 result in finding by the court (emphasis added) that such person shall be punished by death, and in the latter event such person shall be punished by death." For nearly 30 years the Florida Supreme Court has held that sections 775.082 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>2 In <u>Mills</u>, this Court said that "...the plain language of <u>Apprendi</u> indicates that the case is not intended to apply to capital[sentencing] schemes."

921.141 do not allow imposition of a death sentence upon a jury's verdict of guilt, but only upon the finding of sufficient aggravating circumstances.

<u>Dixon v. State</u>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) at 7 ("question of punishment is reserved for a post-conviction hearing").

The Florida statutory provision requiring the finding of an aggravating circumstance before imposition of the death penalty, requires the judge — after the jury has been discharged and "[n]otwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the jury" — to make three factual determinations. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3). Section 921.141(3) provides that "if the court imposes a sentence of death, it shall set forth in writing its findings *upon which the sentence of death is based as to the facts.*"(emphasis added) First, the trial judge must find the existence of at least one aggravating circumstance. Second, the judge must find that "... sufficient aggravating circumstances exist" to justify imposition of the death penalty. <sup>4</sup> (emphasis added). Third, the judge must find in writing that "there are insufficient mitigating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>Mills</u> at 786 So2d 537. Such statements appear at least four times in <u>Mills</u>. <u>Mills</u> reasoned that because first-degree murder is a "capital felony," and the dictionary defines such a felony as "punishable by death," the finding of an aggravating circumstance did not expose the petitioner punishment in excess of the statutory maximum. <u>Mills</u>, at 538.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>4 The jurors need only find sufficient aggravating circumstances to "recommend" an "advisory sentence" of death. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(2).

circumstances to outweigh the aggravating circumstances." "If the court does not make the findings requiring the death sentence, the court shall impose sentence of life imprisonment in accordance with § 775.082."

Because Florida's death penalty statute makes imposition of a death sentence contingent upon findings of "sufficient aggravating circumstances" and "insufficient mitigating circumstances," and gives sole responsibility for making those findings to the judge, it violates the Sixth Amendment.

## 3. <u>The Role Of The Jury In Florida's Capital Sentencing Scheme</u> <u>Neither Satisfies The Sixth Amendment, Nor Renders Harmless The Failure</u> <u>To Satisfy Apprendi and Ring</u>

### a. Florida Juries Do Not Make Findings Of Fact.

Florida's death penalty statute differs from Arizona's in that it provides for the jury to hear evidence and "render an advisory sentence to the court." Fla. Stat. § 921.141(2). A Florida jury's role in the capital sentencing process is insignificant under Apprendi and Ring, however. First, whether one looks to the plain meaning of Florida's death penalty statute, or this court's cases interpreting it, "under section 921.141, the jury's advisory recommendation is not supported by findings of fact," Combs v. State, 525 So.2d 853, (Fla. 1988) at 859 (Shaw, J.,

concurring), which is the central requirement of Ring.

The Florida Supreme Court has rejected the idea that a defendant convicted of

first degree murder has the right "to have the existence and validity of aggravating circumstances determined as they were placed before his jury." <u>Engle v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1983) at 813, explained in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 703 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1997) at 1061. The statute specifically requires the judge to "set forth ... findings upon which the sentence of death is based as to the facts," but asks the jury generally to "render an advisory sentence ... based upon the following matters ...", referring to the

sufficiency of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(2) & (3) (emphasis added). Because Florida law does not require that any number jurors agreethat the State has proven the existence of a given aggravating circumstance before it may be deemed "found," it is impossible to say that "the jury" found proof beyond a reasonable doubt of a particular aggravating circumstance. Thus, "the sentencing order is 'a statutorily required personal evaluation by the trial judge of the aggravating and mitigating factors that forms the basis of a sentence of life or death." <u>Morton v. State</u>, 789 So.2d 324, (Fla. 2001) at 333 (quoting <u>Patton v. State</u>, 784 So.2d 380 (Fla. 2000)).

As the Supreme Court said in <u>Walton</u>, "[a] Florida trial court no more has the assistance of a jury's findings of fact with respect to sentencing issues than does a trial judge in Arizona." <u>Walton</u>, at 648. The Florida Supreme Court has made the point

even more strongly by repeatedly emphasizing that the trial judge's findings must be made independently of the jury's recommendation. See <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 833, (Fla. 1988) at 840. Because the judge must find that "sufficient aggravating circumstances exist" "notwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the jury,"(Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3)), she may consider and rely upon evidence not submitted to the jury. <u>Porter v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1981); <u>Davis</u> at 1061. The judge is also permitted to consider and rely upon aggravating circumstances that were

not submitted to the jury. <u>Davis</u>, at 1061, citing <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 1985) (court's finding of "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" aggravating circumstance proper though jury was not

instructed on it); <u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1983) at 1078 (finding of previous conviction of violent felony was proper even though jury was not instructed on it); <u>Engle</u>, at 813.

Because the jury's role is merely advisory and contains no findings upon which to judge the proportionality of the sentence, the Florida Supreme Court has recognized that its review of a death sentence is based and dependent upon the judge's written findings. <u>Morton</u>, at 333 ("The sentencing order is the foundation for this Court's proportionality review, which may ultimately determine if a person lives or dies"); <u>Grossman</u>, at 839; Dixon, at 8.

## b. <u>Florida Juries are not Required to Render a Verdict on</u> <u>Elements of Capital Murder</u>

Second, although "[Florida's] enumerated aggravating factors operate as 'the functional equivalent of an element of a greater offense," and therefore must be found by a jury like any other element of an offense, Ring, at 608 (quoting Apprendi at 494), Florida law does not require the jury to reach a verdict on any of the factual determinations required before a death sentence could be imposed. Section 921.141(2) does not call for a jury verdict, but rather an "advisory sentence." The Florida Supreme Court has made it clear that "the jury's sentencing recommendation in a capital case is only advisory. The trial court is to conduct its own weighing of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances . . .". Combs., at 858 (quoting Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447(1984) at 451) "The trial judge... is not bound by the jury's recommendation, and is given final authority to determine the appropriate sentence." Engle, at 813. It is reversible error for a trial judge to consider herself bound to follow a jury's recommendation and thus "not make an independent determination of whether the death sentence should be imposed." Ross v. State, 386 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 1980) at 1198.

Florida law only requires the judge to consider "the recommendation of a majority of the jury." Fla. Stat. § 921.141(3). In contrast, … "[n]o verdict may be rendered unless all of the trial jurors concur in it." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.440. Neither the

sentencing statute, the Florida Supreme Court's cases, nor the jury instructions in Appellant's case required that all jurors concur in finding any particular aggravating circumstance, or "[w]hether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist," or "[w]hether sufficient aggravating circumstances

exist which outweigh the aggravating circumstances." Fla. Stat. § 921.141(2).

Because Florida law does not require any two, much less twelve, jurors to agree that the government has proved an aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable

doubt, or to agree on the same aggravating circumstances when advising that "sufficient aggravating circumstances exist" to recommend a death sentence, there is no way to say that "the jury" rendered a verdict as to an aggravating circumstance or the sufficiency of them. As Justice Shaw observed in <u>Combs</u>, Florida law leaves these matters to speculation. <u>Combs</u> at 859 (Shaw, J., concurring).

Further, it is impermissible and unconstitutional to rely on the jury's advisory sentence as the basis for the fact-findings required for a death sentence, because the statute requires only a majority vote of the jury in support of that advisory sentence. Combs, supra.. ("recommendation of a majority of the jury"). In <u>Harris v. United States</u>, 536 U.S. 545 (2002), rendered on the same day as <u>Ring</u>, the U.S. Supreme Court held that under the <u>Apprendi</u> test "those facts setting the outer limits of a sentence, and of the judicial power to impose it, are the elements of the crime for the purposes of the constitutional analysis." See:; <u>Harris</u>, supra.. Further, in <u>Ring</u>, the Court held that the aggravating factors enumerated under Arizona law operated as "the functional equivalent of an element of a greater offense"

and thus had to be found by a jury. <u>Ring</u>, at 609. In other words, pursuant to the reasoning set forth in <u>Apprendi</u>, <u>Jones</u>, and <u>Ring</u>, aggravating factors are equivalent to elements of the capital crime itself and must be treated as such.

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