IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID EUGENE JOHNSTON,

Case No. SC03-824

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Johnston's claim based upon Apprendi v. New Jersey and Ring v. Arizona is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial, on direct appeal, or in Johnston's prior collateral attack proceedings. Alternatively and secondarily, this Court has repeatedly rejected claims that Apprendi/Ring invalidates Florida's capital sentencing statute.

 $^{^{1}}$ This order is the final order in this proceeding, and incorporated the August 29, 2002, order, which addressed only the *Atkins* issue. (R292).

Johnston has demonstrated no reason that this Court should not follow its own precedent and reject his claim, as well. Moreover, Johnston's death sentence is supported by the prior violent felony aggravator and the during the course of a burglary aggravator. Both of those aggravating factors fall outside any interpretation of Apprendi/Ring, and, because that is so, Apprendi and Ring are inapplicable to this case.

Johnston's "mental retardation as a bar to execution" claim has no factual basis because, as the Circuit Court found, this Court has previously determined that Johnston functions in the low average range of intelligence. That determination was made based upon the Rule 3.850 testimony of a mental state expert selected by Johnston, and it makes no sense to argue, as Johnston does, that he is entitled to relitigate matters that were decided long ago, and are res judicata for all purposes.

ARGUMENT

I. JOHNSTON'S RING V. ARIZONA
CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, AND,
IN THE ALTERNATIVE, IS WITHOUT
MERIT BECAUSE RING HAD NO IMPACT
ON FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING
STATUTE.

On pages 6-27 of his Initial Brief, Johnston presents the

same Apprendi/Ring argument that has been repeatedly rejected by this Court. This claim has no more merit in this case than it had in any of the other numerous cases in which this Court has denied relief on the same claim. The Apprendi/Ring claim is procedurally barred because it was not raised at trial, on direct appeal, or in any of Johnston's prior collateral attack proceedings. The procedural bar is an adequate and independent basis for denial of relief, and should be this Court's primary basis for affirming the denial of relief. Alternatively and secondarily, Johnston has previously been convicted of two violent felonies, and the aggravator predicated upon those prior convictions falls outside any interpretation of Apprendi and Ring. Moreover, Johnston committed the murder for which he was sentenced to death during the course of an enumerated felony (burglary) -- that aggravator likewise falls outside of Apprend and Ring. In addition to being procedurally barred, the Apprendi/Ring claim has no legal basis, and relief should be denied on that alternative basis, as well.

A. THE APPRENDI/RING CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Ring claim could have been, but was not, raised at trial, on direct appeal, in one of Johnston's prior Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 motions, or in his State petition

for a writ of habeas corpus. Because that is so, the Apprendi/Ring claim is foreclosed by multiple procedural bars, and could have properly been dismissed by the Circuit Court on that basis.

It is undisputed that Johnston did not raise a direct appeal claim which can in any fashion be construed as a challenge to the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing scheme sufficient to preserve the Apprendi/Ring claim at issue in this proceeding. This is so despite the fact that claims similar in substance to the claim now raised by Johnston have been raised in numerous Florida cases dating back to the 1970s. Apprendi/Ring claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial or on direct appeal. The issue in Ring (which is merely an extension of Apprendi, anyway) is by no means new or novel. That claim, or a variation of it, has been known since before the United States Supreme Court's 1976 decision in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976) the Constitution does not require (holding that sentencing); Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 464 (1984). The basis for a claim that the sentence imposed in this case

²Numerous Florida inmates raised the issue contained in Johnston's petition after *Apprendi* was decided, but before *Ring* was decided. See, Mills, infra.

violated Johnston's right to a jury trial has been available since he was sentenced to death. There is nothing magical about an Apprendi claim, and, despite the pretensions of Johnston's brief, Ring is nothing more than the application of Apprendi to capital cases. There is no justification for a departure by this Court from application of the well-settled State procedural bar rules, which this Court reaffirmed in F.B. v. State, 852 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 2003). The Apprendi claim is procedurally barred, and all relief should be denied on that basis. See, e.g., Bundy v. State, 538 So. 2d 445 (Fla. 1985). This Court should apply settled law and deny the petition on procedural bar grounds because the Apprendi/Ring claim is untimely under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(d)(2).4

To the extent that further discussion of the procedural bar is necessary, Johnston did not raise this claim in any of his collateral attack proceedings. Because this claim could have been, but was not, raised in any of the previous collateral

³In *F.B.*, this Court was explicit in holding that the only exception to the contemporaneous objection rule (which Johnston clearly did not follow) is when the error is fundamental. In this case, there is no error at all under *Apprendi/Ring*, and, because that is so, the contemporaneous objection rule applies and should be enforced by this Court.

 $^{^4}$ Apprendi was decided on June 26, 2000, and, in order to be timely under the provisions of Rule 3.851(d)(2), Johnston had a year from that date to raise an Apprendi claim.

proceedings, this proceeding is a successive motion which is an abuse of process. That is yet another procedural bar to consideration of the *Apprendi/Ring* claim contained in Johnston's present case.

Moreover, the claim contained in Johnston's brief is the same claim that was raised and rejected in Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532, 537-8 (Fla. 2001), where this Court held (in a decision that has been repeatedly affirmed since Ring) that the maximum sentence exposure following conviction for first-degree murder is death. Mills, 786 So. 2d at 536-37; see also, Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981 (Fla. 2003); Sweet v. Moore, 822 So. 2d 1269 (Fla. 2002). Under any view of the law, Johnston should have raised this claim within a year after Apprendi v. New Jersey was decided on June 26, 2000. In other words, Johnston should have done what Mills did -- because he failed to raise the Apprendi claim in a timely Rule 3.850 motion, he foreclosed from raising it in this successive motion by the successive motion provisions of Rule 3.850(f). The circuit court could properly have found that the Apprendi/Ring claim was successive, and denied relief on that basis. Johnston's failure to raise this claim in any prior motion is an abuse of process, and this Court should enforce the State procedural rules and deny relief on that basis.

II. THE APPRENDI/RING CLAIM IS MERITLESS, IN ADDITION TO BEING PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

A. RING IS NOT APPLICABLE TO JOHNSTON'S CASE.

In addition to being procedurally barred and factually inapplicable, no court to consider the issue has held **Apprendi** to be retroactive. Fing is "simply an extension of Apprendi to the death penalty context," and, if Apprendi is not retroactive, Ring should not be retroactive, either. In re Johnson, 334 F.

⁵Coleman v. United States, 329 F.3d 77 (2nd Cir. 2003); Goode v. United States, 305 F.3d 378, 382-85 (6th Cir. 2002); United States v. Brown, 305 F.3d 304, 307-10 (5th. Cir. 2002); United States v. Wiseman, 297 F.3d 975, (10th Cir. 2002); United States v. Dowdy, 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 12559 (9th Cir. June 20, 2002); Curtis v. United States, 294 F.3d 841, 843-44 (7th Cir. 2002); United States v. Mora, 293 F.3d 1213, 1218-19 (10th Cir. 2002); Hines v. United States, 282 F.3d 1002 (8th Cir. 2002); United States v. Sanchez-Cervantes, 282 F.3d 664, 668 (9th Cir. 2002); In re Turner, 267 F.3d 225, 227 (3rd Cir. 2001); McCoy v. United States, 266 F.3d 1245 (11th Cir. 2001); Forbes v. United States, 262 F.3d 143, 144 (2nd Cir. 2001); United States v. Moss, 252 F.3d 993 (8th Cir. 2001); Sanders v. United States, 247 F.3d 139, 151 (4th Cir. 2001); In re Tatum, 233 F.3d 857, 859 (5th Cir. 2000); Jones v. Smith, 231 F.3d 1227 (9th Cir. 2001); Sustache-Rivera v. United States, 221 F.3d 8, 15 n.12 (1st Cir. 2000).

 $^{^6}$ Cannon v. Mullin, 297 F. 3d 989 (10th Cir. 2002), cert. and stay of execution denied, 536 U.S. 974 (U.S. July 23, 2002)

 $^{^7} The\ Cannon\ Court\ held,\ post-Ring,\ that\ under\ Tyler\ v.\ Cain,\ 533\ U.S.\ 656,\ 661\ (2001)$ "'under this provision, the Supreme Court is the only entity that can 'ma[k]e' a new rule retroactive. The new rule becomes retroactive, not by the

3d 403 (5th Cir. 2003) ("Since the rule in Ring is essentially an application of Apprendi, logical consistency suggests that the rule announced in Ring is not retroactively available."). The First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have held that Apprendi is not retroactive, as has the Kansas Supreme Court. Figarola v. State, 841 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); Hughes v. State, 826 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) (certifying question); Whisler v. State, 36 P.3d 290 (Kan. 2001). Likewise,

decisions of the lower courts or by the combined action of the Supreme Court and the lower courts, but simply by the action of the Supreme Court.'"

 $^{^8}$ The Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals has held that Apprendi is not retroactive to collateral review cases. See, Poole v. State, 846 So. 2d 370 (Ala. Crim. App. 2001). The Minnesota Court of Appeals refused to apply retroactively, holding that it was not a watershed rule of criminal procedure, and that the rule did nothing to enhance the accuracy of a criminal conviction. Meemken v. State, 662 N.W. 2d 146 (Minn. 2003). The Nebraska Supreme Court has held that Ring is not retroactively applicable. State v. Lotter, 664 N.W. 2d 892 (Neb. 2003). The Missouri Supreme Court has held that Ring is retroactively applicable. State v. Whitfield, 107 S.W. 3d 253 (Mo. 2003). The retroactive application of Ring is inconsistent and irreconcilable with the same Court's holding that Apprendi is not retroactive. State ex. rel. Nixon v. Sprick, 59 S.W. 3d 515 (Mo. 2001). The conflicting results reached by the Missouri Supreme Court suggest that reliance on Whitfield would be illadvised. The 9th Ciruit has also found Ring retroactive, Summerlin v. Stewart, 341 F. 3d 1082 (9th Cir. 2003), but the United States Supreme Court has granted certiorari on that issue. See Schriro v. Summerlin, infra, 124 S.Ct. 833 (2003).

⁹An Apprendi claim is not "plain error," either. United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625 (2002)(indictment's failure to

the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has explicitly held that Ring is **not** retroactively applicable to a Florida defendant.

Zeigler v. Crosby, 345 F.3d 1300, 1312 n.12 (11th Cir. 2003);

Turner v. Crosby, 339 F.3d 1247, 1283 (11th Cir. 2003).

The United States Supreme Court has previously held that a violation of the right to a jury trial is not retroactive, DeStefano v. Woods, 392 U.S. 631 (1968), and, because that is the law, neither is a wholly procedural ruling like Apprendi or Ring. It is the prerogative of the United States Supreme Court to make the retroactivity determination -- that Court has not held Apprendi/Ring retroactive, and has refused to review cases declining to apply those decisions retroactively. Cannon, supra. Ring, like Apprendi, is merely a procedural ruling which falls far short of being of "fundamental significance." 10

include the quantity of drugs was an Apprendi error but did not seriously affect fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings, and thus did not rise to level of plain error). If an error is not plain error for direct appeal purposes, it is not of sufficient importance to be retroactively applicable to collateral proceedings. Apprendi/Ring claims certainly do not present a "fundamental error," and for that additional reason should not be applied retroactively.

¹⁰Recently the United States Supreme Court accepted for review the case of *Schriro v. Summerlin*, 124 S.Ct. 833 (2003), to resolve the issue of whether *Ring* is retroactive. Johnston has made no such retroactive assertion herein, and any relief in a determination of retroactivity in *Schriro*, would not apply to Johnston because the issues regarding *Ring* have never been preserved by Johnston and he is procedurally barred from

Moreover, the Ring decision is not retroactively applicable under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980). Under Witt, Ring is not retroactively applicable unless it is a decision of fundamental significance, which so drastically alters the underpinnings of Correll's death sentence that "obvious injustice" exists. New v. State, 807 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, 536 U.S. 942 (2002). In determining whether this standard has been met, this Court must consider three factors: the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001). Neither Apprendi nor Ring meet that standard, either.

B. THE APPRENDI/RING CLAIM IS MERITLESS.

Finally, without waiving the foregoing procedural defenses, the claim raised by Johnston has been expressly rejected. See, Robinson v. State/Crosby, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S50, 52 (Fla. Jan. 29, 2004); Lugo v. State, 845 So. 2d 74, 119 (Fla.), cert.

presenting them in this successive motion. United States v. Ardley, 273 F.3d. 991 (11th Cir. 2001) (Procedural default and retroactivity are two different doctrines that cannot be conflated; regardless of the retroactivity doctrine, issues must be timely raised and preserved.)

denied, 124 S.Ct. 320 (2003); Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, (Fla.) ("Ring does not require either notice of the aggravating factors that the State will present at sentencing or a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury."), cert. denied, 124 S.Ct. 392 (2003); Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629 (Fla.), cert.denied, 124 S.Ct. 240 (2003) ; Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2003)(relying on Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 and King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 to deny relief on a Ring claim in a single aggravator (HAC) case); Banks v. State, 842 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 2003); Spencer v. State, 842 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2003); Grim v. State, 841 So. 2d 455 (Fla.), cert. denied, 124 S.Ct. 230 (2003); Cole v. State, 841 So. 2d 409 (Fla. 2003); Anderson v. State, 841 So. 2d 390 (Fla.), cert. denied, 124 S.Ct. 408 (2003); Lucas State/Moore, 841 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 2003); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981 (Fla. 2003) ("Contrary to Porter's claims, we have repeatedly held that the maximum penalty under the statute is death and have rejected the other Apprendi arguments."); Fotopoulos v. State/Moore, 838 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 2003); Bruno v. Moore, 838 So. 2d 485 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 124 S.Ct. 100 (2003); Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940 (Fla.), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct 2647 (2003); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla.),

cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 662 (2002); Chavez v. State, 832 So. 2d
730, 767 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 2617 (2003); King
v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla.), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 657
(2002); Pace v. State/Crosby, 854 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 2003); Jones
v. State/Crosby, 855 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 2003); Marquard v.
State/Moore, 850 So. 2d 417 and n.12 (Fla. 2002); Chandler v.
State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1034 n.4 (Fla. 2003); Lawrence v. State,
846 So. 2d 440 (Fla.), cert. denied, 124 S.Ct. 394 (2003).

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